




































































issued a hold on further payments under the Medical Director Agreements pending further 

investigation. Exhibit ll. 

2. SUTTER HEALTH Knowingly Paid Kickbacks To Induce Referrals. 

113. On Thursday, July 31, 2014, Dr. James Longoria called Carol Spangler, Assistant to 

Patrick Fry, the President and ChiefExecutive Officer of Sutter Health. Dr. Longoria left a message 

with Ms. Spangler because Mr. Fry was not in the office. Dr. Longoria threatened to shut down the 

Operating Rooms if the payment stop was not lifted. 

114. SUTTER HEALTH gave in to Dr. Longoria's threat. Later on Thursday, July 31, 

2014, SUTTER HEALTH made a knowing, willful and conscious decision to reissue the $56,666.66 

payment for June 2014 to subsidize the SCSMG Physician Assistants who were billing third party 

payers, including Medicare, for the benefit of the referring SCSMG Physicians in breach of the 

Physician Assistants Agreement. One purpose of reissuing the $56,666.66 payment to SCSMG for 

June 2014 was to continue to induce future referrals to SUTTER HEALTH operating rooms and to 

maintain the status quo of referrals from SCSMG. . 

115. Eric Dalton, VP Finance of Sutter Shared Services, ordered Brooke Haynes in 

Accounts Payable to reissue the check due on the Physician Assistants Agreement and send it to 

SCSMG via Federal Express immediately. SUTTER HEALTH sent the $56,666.66 check to 

SCSMG on July 31, 2014 under Federal Express Tracking Number 770738076893. Exhibit 12. 

116. Given that SUTTER HEALTH paid SCSMG to subsidize the SCSMG Physician 

Assistants, unrelated to the personally performed services of the SCSMG Physicians, SUTTER 

HEALTH could not reasonably have concluded that the payments under the Physician Assistants 

Agreement did not violate the Stark Statute. SUTTER HEALTH knew it was in violation of the 
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Stark Law and still knowingly made the payments to SCSMG and submitted tainted illegal claims 

for reimbursement to the Government in violation of the FCA and CFCA. 

117. Based on the contractual and actual financial relationships between the SCSMG 

Physicians and SUTTER HEALTH, the Stark Statute was violated because SCSMG and the SCSMG 

Physicians had compensation arrangements with SUTTER HEALTH and none of the statutory or 

regulatory exceptions to the Stark Statute apply to the compensation arrangements. 

118. Given that SUTTER HEALTH paid SCSMG to subsidize the SCSMG Physician 

Assistants, one purpose of which was to induce future refen·als to SUTTER HEALTH, SUTTER 

HEALTH could not reasonably have concluded that the payments under the Physician Assistants 

Agreement did not violate the AKS. SUTTER HEALTH knew it was in violation of the AKS and 

still knowingly continued to submit tainted illegal claims for reimbursement to the Government in 

violation of the FCA and CFCA. 

119. Based on the contractual and actual financial relationships between the SCSMG 

Physicians and SUTTER HEALTH, the AKS was violated because SUTTER HEALTH paid, and 

SCSMG and the SCSMG Physicians received, remuneration to induce the SCSMG Physicians to 

refer patients, including Medicare and Medicaid patients, to SUTTER HEALTH for the furnishing of 

inpatient and outpatient hospital services covered by Medicare and Medicaid and none of the 

statutory or regulatory safe harbors to the AKS apply. 

120. Exhibit 13 is a redacted sample of actual patients referred by SCSMG Physicians to 

SUTTER HEALTH for inpatient hospital services, some of which resulted in false claims for 

reimbursement made by SUTTER HEALTH to Medicare on prohibited referrals from the SCSMG 

Physicians. 
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B. Dr. David K. Roberts 

121. In addition to the cardiovascular medical directorships paid to the three SCSMG 

Physicians, SUTTER HEALTH also pays hundreds of thousands of dollars per year to a fourth 

cardiovascular surgeon, Dr. David K. Roberts. SUTTER HEALTH pays Defendant Sutter Medical 

Foundation for Dr. Roberts' services as Regional Medical Director at the hourly rate of$270.00 for 

up to 121 hours per month, or a total of$392,040.00 per year. Exhibit 14. The compensation is 

payable in monthly installments, subject to submission of monthly time reports. Exhibit 14, ~3(a). 

122. Dr. Roberts' Medical Director Agreement specifies that Dr. Roberts and Defendant 

Sutter Medical Group shall not bill or assert any claim for payment against any patient or payer for 

services performed during the 121 hours per month that Physician is performing his medical 

directorship duties. Exhibit 14, ~3(c). Nonetheless, Dr. Roberts maintains a very active medical 

practice in his limited spare time, and billed Medicare over $200,000 during the year 2012. 

123. SUTTER HEALTH intended to reward Dr. Roberts for his high-volume referrals with 

the lucrative and duplicative Regional Medical Director Agreement. 

124. By stacking four cardiovascular Medical Director Agreements (three with SCSMG 

Physicians and another with Dr. Roberts) with aggregate annual compensation for the four medical 

directorships exceeding $700,000 (excluding patient care services performed by the SCSMG 

Physicians and Dr. Roberts), SUTTER HEALTH created a financial relationship with Dr. Roberts 

that was commercially unreasonable, grossly in excess of fair market value, and violative of the 

Stark Statute because no exception applied. 

125. Based on the contractual and actual financial relationships between Defendant Sutter 

Medical Foundation on behalf of Dr. Roberts and SUTTER HEALTH, the Stark Statute was violated 
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because Dr. Roberts had a compensation arrangement with SUTTER HEALTH and none of the 

statutory or regulatory exceptions to the Stark Statute apply. 

126. Given that SUTTER HEALTH paid Dr. Roberts excessive amounts for bis medical 

directorship, one purpose of which was to induce future referrals to SUTTER HEALTH operating 

rooms, SUTTER HEALTH could not reasonably have concluded that the payments under Dr. 

Roberts' Medical Director Agreement did not violate the AKS. SUTTER HEALTH knew it was in 

violation of the AKS and still knowingly submitted tainted illegal claims for reimbursement to the 

Government in violation of the FCA and CFCA. 

12 7. Based on the contractual and actual financial relationships between Dr. Roberts and 

SUTTER HEALTH, the AKS was violated because SUTTER HEALTH paid, and Defendant Sutter 

Medical Foundation and Dr. Roberts Physicians received, remuneration to induce Dr. Roberts to 

refer patients, including Medicare and Medicaid patients, to SUTTER HEALTH for the furnishing of 

inpatient and outpatient hospital services covered by Medicare and Medicaid and none of the 

statutory or regulatory safe harbors to the AKS apply. 

C. East Bay Perinatal Medical Associates {"EBPMA") 

128. SUTTER HEALTH perpetrates similar fraud schemes using stacked compensation 

and financial agreements that pay or provide unlawful kickbacks, excessive compensation, free 

employees, preferential medical directorship and call coverage arrangements, and other illegal 

incentives to physicians in the East Bay region to selectively reward high-volume referrers to 

SUTTER HEALTH. 

129. Beginning with the effective date of the merger of Alta Bates Medical Center and 

Summit Medical Center on or about July I, 2002 and continuing through August 31, 2014, SUTTER 
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HEALTH entered into a series of agreements with Defendant East Bay Perinatal Medical Associates, 

Inc. ("EBPMA") that restrict patient choice and competition, and reward high-volume referrers with 

preferential medical directorships and call coverage agreements for the Women and Infants Service 

Programs, one purpose of which was to induce referrals from the EBPMA physicians for inpatient 

and outpatient hospital services at SUTTER HEALTH. The current version of the agreement for 

perinatal and obstetrical coverage and administrative services agreement is attached as Exhibit IS 

(the "Perinatal Coverage Agreement"). 

130. The current version of the Perinatal Coverage Agreement obligates SUTTER 

HEALTH to pay EBPMA for the administrative services of Dr. Stuart M. Lovett as Medical 

Director, and an unnamed Chief Obstetrical Generalist to be appointed by Dr. Lovett, for a combined 

maximum of 131 hours per month at the rate of$150 per hour, or a total of$235,800.00 per year. 

Exhibit 15, "tt1.3, "tt3.1 (d). The compensation is payable in monthly installments of$19,650.00 each, 

subject to submission of monthly time reports. Exhibit 15, "tt3(d). 

131. In addition to the compensation for administrative services, the current version of the 

Pelinatal Coverage Agreement obligates SUTTER HEALTH to pay EBPMA an aggregate annual 

amount of$6,412,561.32 for exclusive call coverage services encompassing a1124-hour periods for 

365 days a year for OB Generalists, Perinatologists and Certified Nurse Midwives. Exhibit 15, "ttl.l, 

"tt3.1(a). The compensation is payable in monthly installments of $534,380.11 each, without any 

accounting of time reports documenting the call coverage services actually rendered. Exhibit 15, 

"tt3(a). Moreover, SUTTER HEALTH agrees to pay EBPMA additional compensation for additional 

coverage services due to a strike or force majeure at the rate of$150 per hour for each OB Generalist 

and $72 per hour for each Certified Nurse Midwife. Exhibit 15, "tt1.2, "tt3.1(c). 
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132. SUTTER HEALTH has paid EBPMA for both administrative fees and call coverage 

fees under the Perinatal Coverage Agreements since July I, 2002. The contractual amounts payable 

have varied over the years as follows: 

EBPMA Compensation- Perinatal Coverage Agreement (Excl. Patient Care Services) 

Perinatal Coverage Agreement Medical Call Total Annual 

Directorships Coverage Compensation 

Effective July I, 2002 $ 429,000.00 $4,496,000.00 $4,925,000.00 

Effective August 28, 2007 $ 144,000.00 $4,345,000.00 $4,489,000.00 

Effective December 4, 2009 $ 234,915.00 $5,165,085.00 $5,400,000.00 

Effective June I, 2014 $ 235,800.00 $6,412,561.32 $6,648,361.32 

Exhibits 16-1, 16-2,16-3 and 15. 

133. Each version of the Perinatal Coverage Agreements allowed EBPMA to separately 

bill patients and their insurers for all professional fees rendered by on-call physicians and other 

covering providers. For example, see Exhibit 15, 'lf3.2(b). EBPMA did in fact receive all 

professional fees rendered by on-call physicians and other covering providers, in addition to the 

millions paid annually by SUTTER HEALTH for administrative services and call coverage under 

the Perinatal Coverage Agreements. 

134. In August 2007, SUTTER HEALTH acquired the assets of East Bay Perinatal Center 

from EBPMA. SUTTER HEALTH placed the acquired assets in a separate non-profit, tax -exempt 

corporation which was renamed East Bay Perinatal Center. East Bay Perinatal Center operated a 
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community clinic specializing in maternal-fetal medicine in Oakland, California that served 

predominantly Medi-Cal patients (the "Clinic"). 

135. Simultaneously with the acquisition ofEast Bay Perinatal Center effective August 28, 

2007, SUTTER HEALTH caused East Bay Perinatal Center to enter into an exclusive Professional 

Services Agreement with EBPMA. See Exhibit 17-1. Under the Professional Services Agreement, 

SUTTER HEALTH pays EBPMA for the services of Dr. Stuart M. Lovett as Medical Director of the 

Clinic at the hourly rate of$150.00 for up to 20 hours per quarter, or a total of$36,000.00 per year. 

Exhibit 17-1 (Exhibit 6.2, ,;3). In addition, SUTTER HEALTH pays EBPMA for patient care 

services based on Medicare rates for Work Relative Value Units, a method that ensures EBPMA is 

paid for all patient care services regardless of the patient's ability to pay. Exhibit 17-1 (Exhibit 6.2, 

,;2). SUTTER HEALTH caused Sutter East Bay Hospitals to subsidize East Bay Perinatal Center so 

that EBPMA received full compensation for all services rendered in the Clinic. 

136. The Professional Services Agreement granted EBPMA the exclusive right to provide 

physician staffing to the Clinic: 

IV EXCLUSIVITY AND COMPE1'ITION 

4.1 Exc!usivizy in Physician Staffing oftbe Clinic. So long as the Clinic's physician 
staffing needs ru:e met in compliano;.; with this Agreement, MEDICAL. GROUI1 shall be the sole 
provider ofphysidan servk~s at the ClirJc. ABSPC may participate, and may .reqllirt . 
MEDICAL GROUP to partidpate {solely wiih respectto services delivered at the Clinic), in 
shered risk contracting a•Tangements with. oue or more Indepandt,nt Practice Associations, as 
doomed. necegsru.y to effe.cth"Bly a11d efficiently participate iil Sut'~ Heal:lli' s sysie.tn•\vic!e or 
regiun:al managed care contracting arrangements witll third-pmty payors, 

Exhibit 17-1, ,4.1. 

137. SUTTER HEALTH intended to reward EBPMA for its high-volume referrals with the 

exclusive Professional Services Agreement. 
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138. SUTTER HEALTH last renewed the Professional Services Agreement effective July 

1, 2014. Exhibit 17-2. The physician comprisingEBPMA as of July I, 2014 are Dr. Stuart Lovett, 

Dr. Jonathan Weiss, Dr. Ralph DePalma, Dr. David Marinoff, Dr. Janet Goldman and Dr. Leon 

Richmond (the "EBPMA Physicians"). Exhibit 17-2, (Exhibit 1.3(i)). 

I 39. In 2008, the first full calendar year of the Professional Services Agreement, SUTTER 

HEALTH (through East Bay Perinatal Clinic) paid EBPMA a total of$1,336,395, and SUTTER 

HEALTH (through Sutter East Bay Hospitals) paid EBPMA another $6,000,322. In 2008, SUTTER 

HEALTH paid EBPMA a grand total of$7,336,717. 

140. Incredibly, EBPMA thought $7.3 million per year was not enough and in 2008 

EBPMA requested even more funding from SUTTER HEALTH. A SUTTER HEALTH 

memorandum dated August 19, 2008, reports that "EBPMA believes that the agreements do not 

adequately compensate them for their cost or the needs of the partners." Exhibit 18. 

141. The same August I 9, 2008 memorandum shows that SUTTER HEALTH intended to 

induce referrals when it later acquiesced to EBPMA's demands for increased compensation: 

"EBPMA has also been a valuable partner to [Alta Bates Summit Medical Center] in expanding its 

high risk consulting practice to areas outside the primary footprint of [Alta Bates Summit Medical 

Center], into the San Ramon, Martinez, Fremont and other geographical areas." Exhibit 18. 

142. SUTTER HEALTH bowed to EBPMA's monetary demands and increased the total 

compensation payable to EBPMA under the Perinatal Coverage Agreement effective December 4, 

2009 by $911,000.00 per year, from $4,489,000.00 under the August 28, 2007 version to 

$5,400,000.00 under the December 4, 2009 version. 
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143. The Perinatal Coverage Agreements specified that EBPMA compensation would vary 

if monthly delivery volume substantially increases or decreases from a baseline average. The 

baseline average in the August 28, 2007 version was 273 deliveries per month. Exhibit 16-2, 

'l!2.2(d)(5). The baseline average in the December 4, 2009 version was 300 deliveries per month. 

Exhibit 16-3, 'l!2.2.4(f). Thus, the higher compensation paid by SUTTER HEALTH to EBPMA 

under the December 4, 2009 version of the Perinatal Coverage Agreement expressly and 

unequivocally varied with the volume of referrals for deliveries at SUTTER HEALTH's Alta Bates 

Summit Medical Center. 

144. SUTTER HEALTH intentionally rewarded EBPMA for its high-volume referrals by 

adding $911,000.00 in annual compensation under the December 4, 2009 version of the Perinatal 

Coverage Agreement (Exhibit 16-3), and by adding $1 ,248,361.32 under the June 1, 2014 version of 

the Perinatal Coverage Agreement (Exhibit 15). 

145. By stacking the preferential Perinatal Coverage Agreement with Sutter East Bay 

Hospitals, the exclusive Professional Services Agreement with East Bay Perinatal Center, and other 

contractual arrangements directly or indirectly benefiting EBPMA or the EBPMA physicians, with 

aggregate annual compensation exceeding $7 million per year, SUTTER HEALTH created a 

financial relationship with the EBPMA Physicians that was commercially unreasonable, grossly in 

excess of fair market value, and a financial relationship that violates the Stark law because no 

exception applied. 

146. Given that SUTTER HEALTH paid EBPMA excessive amounts under the Perinatal 

Coverage Agreements that intentionally increased with the volume of referrals from EBPMA 

Physicians, SUTTER HEALTH could not reasonably have concluded that the payments under the 
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Perinatal Coverage Agreements did not violate the Stark Statute. SUTTER HEALTH knew it was in 

violation of the Stark Law and still knowingly made the payments to EBPMA and submitted tainted 

illegal claims for reimbursement to the Government in violation of the FCA and CFCA. 

14 7. Based on the contractual and actual financial relationships between the EBPMA 

Physicians and SUTTER HEALTH, the Stark Statute was violated because EBPMA and the 

EBPMA Physicians had compensation mnngements with SUTTER HEALTH and none of the 

statutory or regulatory exceptions to the Stark Statute apply. 

148. Given that SUTTER HEALTH increased the compensation payable EBPMA under 

the Perinatal Coverage Agreement effective December 4, 2009 by $911,000.00 in response to 

EBPMA's demands, and one purpose of such increase was to reward and induce referrals of 

deliveries to SUTTER HEALTH's Alta Bates Summit Medical Center and the resulting Medicaid-

covered inpatient hospital services, SUTTER HEALTH could not reasonably have concluded that 

the payments under the Perinatal Coverage Agreements did not violate the AKS. SUTTER 

HEALTH knew it was in violation of the AKS and still knowingly submitted tainted illegal claims 

for reimbursement to the Government in violation of the FCA and CFCA. 

149. Based on the contractual and actual financial relationships between the EBPMA 

Physicians and SUTTER HEALTH, the AKS was violated because SUTTER HEALTH paid, and 

EBPMA and the EBPMA Physicians received remuneration, to induce the EBPMA Physicians to 

refer patients, including Medicare and Medicaid patients, to SUTTER HEALTH hospitals for the 

furnishing of inpatient and outpatient hospital services covered by Medicare and Medicaid and none 

of the statutory or regulatory safe harbors to the AKS apply. 

D. East Bay Cardiac Surgery Center Medical Group {"EBCSCMG") 
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!50. SUTTER HEALTH similarly used preferential agreements with its cardiac surgeons 

in the East Bay region to pay or provide unlawful kickbacks, excessive compensation, preferential 

medical directorships and call coverage arrangements, and other illegal incentives to restrict patient 

choice and competition and to selectively reward high-volume referrers. 

!51. From June I, 2007 and continuing through August 31, 2014, SUTTER HEALTH 

entered into a series of Administrative and Coverage Agreements ("Coverage Agreements") with 

Defendant East Bay Cardiac Surgery Center Medical Group ("EBCSCMG"). The Coverage 

Agreement effective June I, 2007 obligated SUTTER HEALTH to pay EBCSCMG an annual 

amount of $15,000.00 for a medical directorship and administrative services, plus a flat annual 

amount of$485,000.00 for 24-hour, 365 days a year call coverage and for an unspecified number of 

hours performing data collection services, for a grand total of$500,000.00 per year. Exhibit 19-1, 

,,3.1 and 3.2. The Coverage Agreement effective February 4, 2009 obligated SUTTER HEALTH 

to pay EBCSCMG a flat annual amount of$! ,000,000.00 for administrative services, call coverage 

and data collection services, without specifically identifYing the time required to perform the 

purported data collection services. Exhibit 19-2, ~3.2. The net effect was to literally double the 

payments to EBCSCMG from $500,000 to $1,000,000 per year. 

152. SUTTER HEALTH intended to reward EBCSCMG for its high-volume referrals by 

adding $500,000.00 in annual compensation under the February 4, 2009 version of the Coverage 

Agreement (Exhibit 19-2), SUTTER HEALTH knew that EBCSCMG was not performing 

additional services to justifY the exorbitant increase. 

!53. SUTTER HEALTH knew it was paying illegal compensation to EBCSCMG and tried 

to conceal the illegal scheme in later versions of the Coverage Agreement. The current version of 
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the Coverage Agreement between Sutter East Bay Hospitals and EBCSCMG is attached as Exhibit 

19-3. The current agreement stacks compensation for administrative services ($108,000.00), 

coverage and indigent care services ($862,000.00) and data collection services ($385,000.00 -

$1,100 per case up to 350 cases per year), for a grand total of $1,355,000.00 per year. The 

physicians named to serve as Medical Director under the each version of the Coverage Agreement 

are Dr. Junaid H. Khan and Dr. Russell D. Stanten (the "EBCSCMG Physicians"). 

154. In addition to the Coverage Agreements with Defendant Sutter East Bay Hospitals, 

SUTTER HEALTH pays the EBCSCMG Physicians for call coverage at Eden Medical Center in 

Castro Valley at the rate of$850 per shift through Defendant Sutter Medical Center, Castro Valley 

d/b/a Eden Medical Center. 

155. Even after attempting to conceal some of the additional compensation as "data 

collection services," SUTTER HEALTH and EBCSCMG admitted that EBCSCMG was not fully 

performing the data collection services for which SUTTER HEALTH allegedly paid EBCSCMG 

under the revised Coverage Agreement. Rather than immediately recovering the overpayments from 

EBCSCMG which should not have been paid under the revised Coverage Agreement, SUTTER 

HEALTH waived and abandoned its contractual right to collect the overpayment from EBCSCMG 

within thirty days. In fact, SUTTER HEALTH allowed EBCSCMG to be paid for over four months 

with the benefit of the additional compensation payable for purported data collection services under 

the current February I, 2014 version ofthe Coverage Agreement. See Exhibit 19.4. 

156. SUTTER HEALTH intended to reward EBCSCMG for its high-volume referrals by 

adding more compensation under the February I, 2014 version of the Coverage Agreement (Exhibit 
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19-3), and knew that EBCSCMG was not performing data collection services to justify the 

compensation for data collection services. 

157. By stacking compensation for administrative services, call coverage and data 

collection services in the Coverage Agreements with EBCSCMG, with aggregate annual 

compensation exceeding $1 million per year, SUTTER HEALTH created a financial relationship 

with the EBCSCMG Physicians that was commercially unreasonable, grossly in excess of fair 

market value, and a financial relationship that violates the Stark law because no exception applied. 

158. Given that SUTTER HEALTH knowingly paidEBCSCMG excessive amounts under 

the Coverage Agreements that included compensation for purported data collection services that 

were not performed, SUTTER HEALTH could not reasonably have concluded that the payments 

under the Coverage Agreements did not violate the Stark Statute. SUTTER HEALTH knew it was in 

violation of the Stark Law and still knowingly made the payments to EBCSCMG and submitted 

tainted illegal claims for reimbursement to the Govemment in violation of the FCA and CFCA. 

159. Based on the contractual and actual financial relationships between the EBCSCMG 

Physicians and SUTTER HEALTH, the Stark Statute was violated because EBCSCMG and the 

EBCSCMG Physicians had compensation arrangements with SUTTER HEALTH and none of the 

statutory or regulatory exceptions to the Stark Statute apply. 

160. Given that SUTTER HEALTH increased the compensation payable EBCSCMG 

under the Coverage Agreement effective February 4, 2009 by $500,000.00 and knowingly paid 

EBCSCMG under the Coverage Agreements for services that were not performed, and one purpose 

of such payments was to reward and induce referrals of patients by EBCSCMG Physicians to 

SUTTER HEALTH's Alta Bates Summit Medical Center for inpatient and outpatient hospital 
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services covered by Medicare and Medicaid, SUTTER HEALTH could not reasonably have 

concluded that the payments under the Coverage Agreements did not violate the AKS. SUTTER 

HEALTH knew it was in violation of the AKS and still knowingly submitted tainted illegal claims 

for reimbursement to the Government in violation of the FCA and CFCA. 

161. Based on the contractual and actual financial relationships between the EBCSCMG 

Physicians and SUTTER HEALTH, the AKS was violated because SUTTER HEALTH paid, and 

EBCSCMG and the EBCSCMG Physicians received remuneration, to induce the EBCSCMG 

Physicians to refer patients, including Medicare and Medicaid patients, to SUTTER HEALTH 

hospitals for the furnishing of inpatient and outpatient hospital services covered by Medicare and 

Medicaid and none of the statutory or regulatory safe harbors to the AKS apply. 

E. Bay Area Surgical Specialists f/kla East Bay Vascular Group ("BASS") 

162. SUTTER HEALTH used preferential agreements with its vascular and thoracic 

surgeons in the East Bay region to pay or provide unlawful kickbacks, excessive compensation, 

preferential medical directorships and call coverage arrangements, and other illegal incentives to 

restrict patient choice and competition, and to selectively reward high-volume referrers. 

163. SUTTER HEALTH entered into multiple medical directorship and call coverage 

agreements with Defendant East Bay Surgical Specialists, Inc., A Medical Corporation flk/a East 

Bay Vascular Group ("BASS"), including a Call Coverage Agreement for Vascular Surgery at Alta 

Bates Summit Medical Center (Exhibit 20-1) and a Call Coverage Agreement for Thoracic Surgery 

at Eden Medical Center (Exhibit 20-2) (the "BASS Call Coverage Agreements"). The BASS Call 

Coverage Agreements obligated SUTTER HEALTH to pay BASS call coverage at the rate of $650 

per shift for vascular surgery coverage at each of the two Alta Bates Summit Medical Center 
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campuses, and at the rate of$850 per shift for thoracic surgery coverage for both of the campuses at 

Castro Valley and San Leandro. Exhibit 20-1, ~3(a); Exhibit 20-2, ~3(a). 

164. Both of the BASS Call Coverage Agreements ensure the physicians serve as on-call 

physicians pursuant to a rotation on-call schedule established and amended from time to time by the 

hospital. Exhibit 20-1, ~l(a); Exhibit 20-2, ~l(a). Both of the BASS Call Coverage Agreements 

provide that BASS will separately bill and collect charges for any professional fees rendered during 

the coverage shifts. Exhibit 20-1, ~lG); Exhibit 20-2, ~1(1). 

165. In actual practice, Alta Bates Summit Medical Center rewards BASS for its high 

volume referrals with the preferential right to cover all shifts during the year for both hospital 

campuses. For example, for the month of March 2014, SUTTER HEALTH paid BASS a total of 

$40,300.00, which included 31 shifts at the Alta Bates campus at $650 per shift, and 31 shifts at the 

Summit campus at $650 per shift. Exhibit 21-1. Over a full year, SUTTER HEALTH pays BASS a 

total of$474,500.00 ($650 x 2 x 365 days) for vascular surgery call coverage. 

166. The BASS physicians appearing on the March 2014 call coverage report for Alta 

Bates Summit Medical Center are: Dr. Rajiv Nagesetty, Dr. Fernando R. Otero, Dr. John D. Bry, 

Dr. Gonzalo P. Obnial and Dr. Keshav K. Pandurangi (the "BASS Vascular Surgeons"). Dr. Rajiv 

Nagesetty was far-and-away the highest-billing vascular surgeon in the entire State of California for 

2012 with Medicare billings of $4,176,471.06. Dr. Nagesetty and BASS referred hundreds of 

Medicare patients each year to SUTTER HEALTH hospitals for inpatient and outpatient hospital 

services relating to expensive cardiovascular procedures. 
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167. SUTTER HEALTH intended to reward BASS and the BASS Vascular Physicians for 

their high-volume refenals with the preferred vascular surgery call coverage arrangement for the two 

campuses of Alta Bates Summit Medical Center. 

168. At Eden Medical Center in Castro Valley, the thoracic surgery call coverage is shared 

between two medical groups: ( 1) BASS, the sole provider of vascular surgery call coverage at Alta 

Bates Summit Medical Center; and (2) EBCSCMG, the sole provider of cardiac surgery call 

coverage Alta Bates Summit Medical Center. For example, for the month of June 2014, SUTTER 

HEALTH paid BASS a total of$11,900.00, which included 14 shifts at $850 per shift, and SUTTER 

HEALTH paid EBCSCMG a total of $13,600.00, which included 16 shifts at $850 per shift. 

Exhibit 21-2. 

169. The BASS physicians appearing on the June 2014 call coverage report for Eden 

Medical Center are Dr. Michaela Straznicka, Dr. Wilson Tsai and Dr. Saurin Shah (the "BASS 

Thoracic Surgeons"). The EBCSCMG physicians appearing on the June 2014 call coverage report 

for Eden Medical Center are Dr. Junaid H. Khan and Dr. Russell D. Stanten, the same two 

physicians that SUTTER HEALTH richly compensates for supposedly providing cardiac surgery 

call coverage at Alta Bates Summit Medical Center every single day of the year. See Complaint 

~~151-154 above. SUTTER HEALTH was double paying the same EBCSCMG Physicians for call 

coverage. 

170. SUTTER HEALTH intended to reward BASS, the BASS Thoracic Physicians, 

EBCSCMG and the EBCSCMG Physicians for their high-volume refenals with the preferred 

thoracic surgery call coverage anangement for Eden Medical Center. 
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171. By stacking compensation for vascular and thoracic surgery call coverage at Eden 

Medical Center with the various preferential agreements and compensation schemes at Alta Bates 

Summit Medical Center, SUTTER HEALTH created a financial relationship with the BASS 

Vascular Physicians and the BASS Thoracic Physicians and that was commercially unreasonable, 

grossly in excess offair market value, and a financial relationship that violates the Stark law because 

no exception applied. 

172. Given that SUTTER HEALTH knowingly paid BASS excessive amounts under the 

preferential BASS Coverage Agreements that included vascular surgery call coverage for all 365 

days of the year, SUTTER HEALTH could not reasonably have concluded that the payments under 

the BASS Coverage Agreements did not violate the Stark Statute. SUTTER HEALTH knew it was 

in violation of the Stark Law and still knowingly made the payments to BASS and submitted tainted 

illegal claims for reimbursement to the Government in violation of the FCA and CFCA. 

173. Based on the contractual and actual financial relationships between the BASS 

Vascular Physicians, the BASS Thoracic Physicians and SUTTER HEALTH, the Stark Statute was 

violated because BASS, the BASS Vascular Physicians and the BASS Thoracic Physicians had 

compensation atTangements with SUTTER HEALTH and none of the statutory or regulatory 

exceptions to the Stark Statute apply. 

174. Given that SUTTER HEALTH knowingly assigned vascular and thoracic call 

coverage to BASS and EBCSCMG on a preferential basis and paid BASS and EBCSCMG based on 

such assignments, and one purpose of such preferential assignments and payments was to reward and 

induce referrals of patients by BASS Vascular Physicians, BASS Thoracic Physicians and 

EBCSCMG Physicians to SUTTER HEALTH's Alta Bates Summit Medical Center and Eden 
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Medical Center for inpatient and outpatient hospital services covered by Medicare and Medicaid, 

SUTTER HEALTH could not reasonably have concluded that the payments under the BASS 

Coverage Agreements did not violate the AKS. SUTTER HEALTH knew it was in violation of the 

AKS and still knowingly submitted tainted illegal claims for reimbursement to the Government in 

violation of the FCA and CFCA. 

17 5. Based on the contractual and actual financial relationships between the BASS 

Vascular Physicians, the BASS Thoracic Physicians and SUTTER HEALTH, the AKS was violated 

because SUTTER HEALTH paid, and BASS, the BASS Vascular Physicians and the BASS 

Thoracic Physicians received remuneration, to induce the BASS Vascular Physicians and the BASS 

Thoracic Physicians to refer patients, including Medicare and Medicaid patients, to SUTTER 

HEALTH hospitals for the furnishing of inpatient and outpatient hospital services covered by 

Medicare and Medicaid and none of the statutory or regulatory safe harbors to the AKS apply. 

F. Dr. Stephen K. Liu 

176. SUTTER HEALTH used preferential agreements with its physicians in the Central 

Valley region to pay or provide unlawful kickbacks, excessive compensation, preferential medical 

directorships and call coverage arrangements, and other illegal incentives to restrict patient choice 

and competition, and selectively reward high-volume refeners. 

177. Beginning September 1, 2008, SUTTER HEALTH entered into a series of exclusive 

call coverage agreements for with Defendant Stephen K. Liu, M.D., Professional Corporation ("Liu 

MD PC") for lnterventional Radiology at Memorial Medical Center in Modesto, California. Exhibit 

22-1 (the "Liu Call Coverage Agreement"). The initial Liu Call Coverage Agreement expressly 

provided that Liu MD PC "shall be the exclusive provider of the specific interventional radiology 
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Services set forth at Exhibit A, attached hereto," and Liu MD PC shall provide coverage services "on 

a twenty-four (24) hour basis every day of the calendar year." Exhibit 22-1, ~l(a) and (b). 

Initially, the call coverage rate was $500 per shift. Exhibit 22-1, ~3(a). 

178. SUTTER HEALTH has since quadrupled the call coverage compensation from $500 

to $2,000 per shift in the current version of the Liu Call Coverage Agreement effective April 4, 

2014. Exhibit 22-2, ~3(a). 

179. The Liu Call Coverage Agreement provides that Liu MD PC will separately bill and 

collect charges for any professional fees rendered during the coverage shifts. Exhibit 22-1, ~3(b); 

Exhibit 22-2, ~1(q). 

180. Under the Liu Call Coverage Agreement, Memorial Medical Center rewards Liu MD 

PC and Dr. Stephen Liu individually for his high volume referrals with the exclusive right to cover 

all shifts for every day of the calendar year. For example, for the month of March 2014, SUTTER 

HEALTH paid Liu MD PC a total of$37,200.00, which included all31 shifts of the month at the 

Memorial Medical Center at $1,200 per shift. Exhibit 23. Over a full year at the rate of$1,200 per 

shift, SUTTER HEALTH paid Liu MD PC a total of $438,000.00 ($1,200 x 365 days) for 

interventional radiology call coverage. 

181. Dr. Stephen Liu was far-and-away the highest -billing diagnostic radiologist in the 

entire State of California for 2012 with Medicare billings of$4,604,464.10. Dr. Liu and Liu MD PC 

referred hundreds of Medicare patients each year to SUTTER HEALTH hospitals for inpatient and 

outpatient hospital services relating to expensive cardiovascular procedures. 
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182. SUTTER HEALTH intended to reward Liu MD PC and Dr. Liu individually for their 

high-volume referrals with the exclusive interventional radiology call coverage arrangement for 

Memorial Medical Center. 

183. By providing Liu MD PC with preferential call coverage assignments and payments 

for all 365 days of the year, SUTTER HEALTH created a financial relationship with Liu MD PC 

and Dr. Stephen Liu individually that was commercially unreasonable, grossly in excess of fair 

market value, and a financial relationship that violates the Stark law because no exception applied. 

184. Given that SUTTER HEALTH knowingly paid Liu MD PC excessive amounts under 

the preferential Liu Coverage Agreement that included interventional radiology call coverage for all 

365 days of the year, SUTTER HEALTH could not reasonably have concluded that the payments 

under the Liu Coverage Agreement did not violate the Stark Statute. SUTTER HEALTH knew it 

was in violation of the Stark Law and still knowingly made the payments to Liu MD PC and 

submitted tainted illegal claims for reimbursement to the Government in violation of the FCA and 

CFCA. 

185. Based on the contractual and actual financial relationships between Dr. Stephen Liu 

and SUTTER HEALTH, the Stark Statute was violated because Liu MD PC and Dr. Stephen Liu 

individually had compensation arrangements with SUTTER HEALTH and none of the statutory or 

regulatory exceptions to the Stark Statute apply. 

186. Given that SUTTER HEALTH knowingly assigned interventional radiology call 

coverage to Liu MD PC on a preferential basis and paid Liu MD PC based on such assignments, and 

one purpose of such preferential assignments and payments was to reward and induce referrals of 

patients by Dr. Stephen Liu to SUTTER HEALTH's Memorial Medical Center for inpatient and 
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outpatient hospital services covered by Medicare and Medicaid, SUTTER HEALTH could not 

reasonably have concluded that the payments under the Liu Coverage Agreements did not violate the 

AKS. SUTTER HEALTH knew it was in violation of the AKS and still knowingly submitted 

tainted illegal claims for reimbursement to the Government in violation of the FCA and CFCA. 

187. Based on the contractual and actual financial relationships between Dr. Stephen Liu 

and SUTTER HEALTH, the AKS was violated because SUTTER HEALTH paid, and Liu MD PC 

and Dr. Stephen Liu individually received remuneration, to induce Dr. Liu to refer patients, 

including Medicare and Medicaid patients, to SUTTER HEALTH hospitals for the furnishing of 

inpatient and outpatient hospital services covered by Medicare and Medicaid and none of the 

statutory or regulatory safe harbors to the AKS apply. 

G. California Emergency Physicians Medical Group, A Professional Corporation 
f/k/a/ Sutter Emergency Medical Associates ("CEPMG") 

188. Beginning February I, 2008, SUTTER HEALTH entered into a series of agreements 

with Defendant California Emergency Physicians Medical Group £'k/a Sutter Emergency Medical 

Associates ("CEPMG") for emergency department coverage services at Memorial Hospital Los 

Banos that provided compensation for CEPMG's mid-level practitioners to and for the direct benefit 

ofCEPMG, one purpose of which was to induce referrals from the CEPMG physicians for inpatient 

and outpatient hospital services at SUTTER HEALTH. The current version of the agreement for 

emergency department coverage services is attached as Exhibit 24 (the "ED Coverage Agreement"). 

189. The ED Coverage Agreement obligates SUTTER HEALTH to pay for CEPMG for its 

Mid-Level Practitioners (defined to include Physician Assistants and Nurse Practitioners) working in 

the Emergency Department at Memorial Hospital Los Banos at the rate of$60.33 per hour. Exhibit 

55 
COMPLAINT AND 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 



24, ~3 .1 (c). The ED Coverage Agreement allowed CEPMG to bill and collect all charges for the 

professional component of medical services delivered to all patients by CEPMG, including services 

delivered by the Mid-Level Practitioners funded by SUTTER HEALTH. Exhibit 24, ~3 .2(b ). The 

payment for Mid-Level Practitioners varied with the volume and value of inpatient hospital services 

referred by the CEPMG Physicians to the CEPMG Mid-Level Practitioners. The revenues and 

profits made by CEPMG rise directly in correlation to the refen·als made by CEPMG physicians to 

the Mid-Level Practitioners. 

190. Mid-Level Practitioners that were paid for by SUTTER HEALTH under the ED 

Coverage Agreement include (without limitation): Lani Antonio, Alysee Michalosky, David 

Belshaw, Philip Sampson and Elmer Santos (the "CEPMG Mid-Level Practitioners"). 

191. Physicians that provided services under the ED Coverage Agreement and that 

illegally benefited from the payments made by SUTTER HEALTH for Mid-Level Practitioners 

under the ED Coverage include (without limitation): Dr. Joseph Chiang, Dr. Henry W. Turkel, Dr. 

Byron F. Carcelen and Dr. Philip Silverstein (the "CEPMG Physicians"). 

192. In addition to the payments for Mid-Level Practitioners, the ED Coverage Agreement 

expressly obligated SUTTER HEALTH to pay CEPMG $12,000.00 per year for Medical Director 

administrative duties and a "Disproportionate Share Subsidy" of$300,000.00 per year. Exhibit 24, 

~3.l(a) and (b). The purpose of the Disproportionate Share Subsidy was supposedly "to compensate 

Group fairly for its treatment of a disproportionate number of Hospital patients who either lack a 

third-party payment source or whose third-party payor reimbursement is insufficient to cover 

Group's costs of providing services hereunder." Exhibit 24, ~3.1 (b). It is important to note that the 
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ED Coverage Agreement provided for no accounting of the actual number of indigent patients seen 

by the CEPMG Physicians. 

193. The ED Coverage Agreement restricted competition and patient choice: "no 

Physician assigned to provide services to Hospital shall also be assigned at any time throughout this 

Agreement to provide services to Doctors Medical Center in Modesto, California." Exhibit 24, ~1.1. 

Doctors Medical Center is a 394-bed hospital in Modesto which competes with SUTTER 

HEALTH's Memorial Medical Center, also located in Modesto. Thus, one purpose of the various 

compensation arrangements under the ED Coverage Agreement was to restrict competition and 

induce CEPMG Physicians to refer patients exclusively to SUTTER HEALTH. 

194. SUTTER HEALTH also has similar emergency room coverage agreements with 

CEPMG for its hospitals located in Roseville, Antioch, Sacramento, Auburn and Davis, California. 

195. By stacking compensation for Mid-Level Practitioners, Medical Director 

administrative services and the $300,000.00 annual Disproportionate Share Subsidy (excluding 

patient care services performed by the CEPMG) for Memorial Hospital Los Banos, and entering 

similar agreements for emergency room coverage for its hospitals in Roseville, Antioch, Sacramento, 

Auburn and Davis, California, SUTTER HEALTH created a financial relationship with the CEPMG 

that was commercially umeasonable, in excess of fair market value, varied with volume and value of 

referrals, and a financial relationship that violates the Stark law because no exception applied. 

196. Given that SUTTER HEALTH knowingly paid CEPMG excessive amounts under the 

preferential ED Coverage Agreement that included payment for Mid-Level Practitioners that varied 

with volume and value of referrals, SUTTER HEALTH could not reasonably have concluded that 

the payments under the ED Coverage Agreement did not violate the Stark Statute. SUTTER 
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HEALTH knew it was in violation of the Stark Law and still knowingly made the payments to 

CEPMG and submitted tainted illegal claims for reimbursement to the Government in violation of 

the FCA and CFCA. 

197. Based on the contractual and actual financial relationships between CEPMG and 

SUTTER HEALTH, the Stark Statute was violated because CEPMG had compensation 

arrangements with SUTTER HEALTH and none of the statutory or regulatory exceptions to the 

Stark Statute apply. 

198. Given that SUTTER HEALTH knowingly paid for Mid-Level Practitioners and 

provided other compensation under the ED Coverage Agreement, and one purpose of such 

compensation was to restrict competition and induce referrals of patients by CEPMG Physicians to 

Memorial Hospital Los Banos, instead of Doctors Memorial Hospital in Modesto, for inpatient and 

outpatient hospital services covered by Medicare and Medicaid, SUTTER HEALTH could not 

reasonably have concluded that the payments under the ED Coverage Agreements did not violate the 

AKS. SUTTER HEALTH knew it was in violation of the AKS and still knowingly submitted 

tainted illegal claims for reimbursement to the Government in violation of the FCA and CFCA. 

199. Based on the contractual and actual financial relationships between CEPMG and 

SUTTER HEALTH, the AKS was violated because SUTTER HEALTH paid, and CEPMG received 

remuneration, to induce CEPMG Physicians to refer patients, including Medicare and Medicaid 

patients, to SUTTER HEALTH hospitals for the furnishing of inpatient and outpatient hospital 

services covered by Medicare and Medicaid and none of the statutory or regulatory safe harbors to 

the AKS apply. 

XI. FALSE CLAIMS AND FRAUDULENT CLAIMS AND STATEMENTS 
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200. The physicians with whom SUTTER HEALTH entered into financial relationships 

specified in paragraphs 85-199, above, referred patients, including Medicare and Medicaid patients, 

to SUTTER HEALTH in violation of the Stark Statute. 

201. SUTTER HEALTH, in tum, presented, or caused to be presented through the fiscal 

intermediary and MAC, claims for payment to the Medicare program for designated health services 

provided to patients of the physicians with whom they had entered into prohibited financial 

relationships as set forth in paragraphs 85-199. 

202. SUTTER HEALTH also presented, or caused to be presented through the State of 

California's DHCS, claims for payment to the Medicaid program for designated health services 

provided to patients of the physicians with whom they had entered into prohibited financial 

relationships as set forth in paragraphs 85-199. SUTTER HEALTH thereby obtained payments from 

the United States and the State of California in violation of the Stark Statute. 

203. Under the FCA (31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(l), now 31 U.S.C. § 3729 (a)(l)(A)) and the 

CFCA (Cal. Gov't Code § 12651 (a)(!)), the claims submitted by SUTTER HEALTH in paragraphs 

85-199 above were false and/or fraudulent because SUTTER HEALTH was prohibited by the Stark 

Statute from obtaining payment from the United States and the State of California upon claims for 

designated health services provided on referrals from the physicians with whom they had entered 

into prohibited fmancial relationships. 

204. Under the AKS (42 U.S.C. § l320a-7b(g)), theFCA (31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(l), now 31 

U.S.C. § 3729 (a)(l)(A)), and the CFCA (Cal. Gov't Code§ 12651(a)(l)), the claims submitted by 

SUTTER HEALTH in paragraphs 85-199 above were false and/or fi·audulent because SUTTER 

HEALTH knowingly and willfully paid remuneration to physicians and their professional 
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corporations set forth in paragraphs 85-199 to induce referrals to SUTTER HEALTH in violation of 

the AKS, Cal Bus. & Prof. Code§§ 650 and 650.1 and Cal. Welf. & Inst. Code§ 14107.2. 

205. SUTTER HEALTH also violated the FCA (31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(2), now 

3729(a)(l)(B)), and the CFCA (Cal. Gov't Code § 1265l(a)(2)), by making false statements, or 

causing false statements to be made by the fiscal intermediary and MAC, to get claims paid by 

Medicare for designated health services provided on referrals from the physicians with whom they 

had entered into prohibited financial relationships as set forth in paragraphs 85-199. SUTTER 

HEALTH's certifications on its cost reports that its statements were "true" and/or "correct" and that 

it was entitled to payment of its claims for such services were false or fraudulent because the Stark 

Statute prohibited SUTTER HEALTH from receiving payments from the United States and the State 

of California for those claims. 

206. SUTTER HEALTH and PHYSICIAN ENTITIES conspired with one another to get 

false and fraudulent claims allowed and paid by Medicare and Medicare, and to retain such 

overpayments, in violation of the FCA and CFCA. SUTTER HEALTH and PHYSICIAN 

ENTITIES also conspired to pay physicians excessive compensation and remuneration in violation 

of the Stark Statute and AKS laws. SUTTER HEALTH and PHYSICIAN ENTITIES acted in a 

concerted fashion to defraud Medicare and Medicaid, and acted with others in keeping the facts 

necessary to investigate the fraud and the damages caused by the fraud away from the United States 

and the State of California. Accordingly, the SUTTER HEALTH and PHYSICIAN ENTITIES 

violated the FCA (31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(3), now§ 3729(a)(l)(C)) and the CFCA (Cal. Gov't Code§ 

1265l(a)(3)). 
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207. SUTTER HEALTH knowingly made, used, and caused to be made or used false 

records and statements to conceal, avoid or decrease its obligations to pay or transmit money to the 

United States and the State of California (i.e., to avoid refunding payments made in violation of the 

Stark Statute) by certifYing on their annual cost reports that the services were provided in 

compliance with federal law, all in violation of the FCA (31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(7), now 

§ 3729(a)(l)(G)) and theCFCA (Cal. Gov'tCode § 1265l(a)(7)). The false certifications, made with 

each annual cost report submitted to the government, were part of SUTTER HEALTH's unlawful 

and orchestrated scheme to defraud Medicare and Medicaid. 

208. All claims submitted to Medicare or Medicaid by SUTTER HEALTH for designated 

health services referred by any of the physicians identified in paragraphs 85-199 above were false 

claims that were knowingly submitted to the United States. SUTTER HEALTH submitted and 

caused others to submit false and fraudulent claims for payment to Medicare and Medicaid, which 

included claims relating to inpatient and outpatient designated health services rendered to patients 

who were referred to the hospital by the physicians affiliated with SUTTER HEALTH who had 

improper contracts which violated the Stark Statute and the AKS. 

209. SUTTER HEALTH presented, or caused to be presented, all of said false claims with 

actual knowledge of their falsity, or in deliberate ignorance or reckless disregard that such claims 

were false and fraudulent. The illegal scheme implemented by SUTTER HEALTH involved 

thousands of prohibited referrals made by the physicians identified in paragraphs 85-199 above. 

COUNT ONE 

(False Claims Act: Presentation of False Claims) 

(31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(l) now (a)(l)(A)) 
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210. Relator incorporates by reference all paragraphs of this Complaint set out above as if 

fully set fmih. 

211. SUTTER HEALTH knowingly presented, or caused to be presented, false and 

fraudulent claims for payment or approval to the United States, including those claims for 

reimbursement (identified in paragraphs 85-199 above) for designated health services rendered to 

patients who were refened by physicians with whom SUTTER HEALTH had entered into prohibited 

financial relationships in violation of the Stark Statute. 

212. Said claims were presented with actual knowledge of their falsity, or with reckless 

disregard or deliberate ignorance of whether or not they were false. 

COUNT TWO 

(False Claims Act: Using False Statements to Get False Claims Paid) 

(31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(2), now 3729(a)(l)(B)) 

213. Relator incorporates by reference all paragraphs of this Complaint set out above as if 

fully set forth. 

214. SUTTER HEALTH made, used, and caused to be made or used, false records or 

statements - i.e., the false certifications and representations made and caused to be made by 

SUTTER HEALTH when initially submitting the false claims for payments and the false 

certifications made by SUTTER HEALTH in submitting the cost reports -to get false or fraudulent 

claims paid and approved by the United States. 

215. SUTTER HEALTH's false certifications and representations were made for the 

purpose of getting false or fraudulent claims paid and payment of the false or fraudulent claims was 

a reasonable and foreseeable consequence of SUTTER HEALTH's statements and actions. 
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216. The false cettifications and representations made and caused to be made by SUTTER 

HEALTH were material to the United States' payment of the false claims. 

217. Said false records or statements were made with actual knowledge of their falsity, or 

with reckless disregard or deliberate ignorance of whether or not they were false. 

COUNT THREE 

(False Claims Act: False Record Material to Obligation to Pay) 

(31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(7), now (a)(l)(G)) 

218. Relator incorporates by reference all paragraphs of this Complaint set out above as if 

fully set forth. 

219. SUTTER HEALTH made and used or caused to be made or used false records or 

statements material to an obligation to pay or transmit money to the United States, or knowingly 

concealed, avoided, or decreased an obligation to pay or transmit money to the United States. 

220. Said false records or statements were made with actual knowledge of their falsity, or 

with reckless disregard or deliberate ignorance of whether or not they were false. 

COUNT FOUR 

(False Claims Act: Conspiracy to Violate False Claims Act) 

(31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(3), now 3729(a)(l)(C)) 

221. Relator incorporates by reference all paragraphs of this Complaint set out above as if 

fully set forth. 

222. SUTTER HEALTH and PHYSICIAN ENTITIES conspired with one another to get 

false and fraudulent claims allowed and paid by the United States in violation of 31 U.S.C. 

§ 3729(a)(l)(A) and/or (B) and to retain overpayments in violation of31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(l)(G). 
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SUTTER HEALTH and PHYSICIAN ENTITIES also conspired to pay physicians excessive 

compensation and remuneration in violation of the Stark and AKS laws. 

223. SUTTER HEALTH and PHYSICIAN ENTITIES acted in a concerted fashion to 

defraud the United States, and acted with others in keeping the facts necessary to investigate the 

fraud and the damages caused by the fraud away from the United States. Accordingly, the SUTTER 

HEALTH and PHYSICIAN ENTITIES violated 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(l)(C). 

224. As a result of the actions of SUTTER HEALTH and PHYSICIAN ENTITIES, the 

United States have been severely damaged. 

COUNfFIVE 

(California False Claims Act: Presentation of False Claims) 

(Cal. Gov't Code§ 1265l(a)(l)) 

225. Relator incorporates by reference all paragraphs of this Complaint set out above as if 

fully set forth. 

226. Cal. Gov't Code§ 1265l(a)(l) provides liability for any person who "[k]knowingly 

presents or causes to be presented a false or fraudulent claim for payment or approval." 

227. In addition, the payment or receipt of bribes or kickbacks is prohibited under Cal. 

Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 650 and 650.1, and is also specifically prohibited in treatment of Medi-Cal 

patients pursuant to Cal. Welf. & lnst. Code § 14107.2. 

228. SUTTER HEALTH violated Cal Bus. & Prof. Code§§ 650 and 650.1 and Cal. Welf. 

& Inst. Code § 14107.2 from at least July 1, 2002 to the present by engaging in the fraudulent and 

illegal practices described herein. 
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229. SUTTER HEALTH furthermore violated Cal. Gov't Code § 1265l(a)(l) and 

knowingly caused hundreds of thousands of false claims to be made, used and presented to the State 

of California from at least July 1, 2002 to the present by its violation of federal and state laws, 

including Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code§§ 650 and 650.1 and Cal. Welf. & Ins!. Code§ 14107.2, the Stark 

Act and the AKS, as described herein. 

230. The State of California, by and through the Medi-Cal program, and unaware of 

SUTTER HEALTH's fraudulent and illegal practices, paid the claims submitted by health care 

providers. 

231. Compliance with applicable Medicare, Medi-Cal and the various other federal and 

state laws cited herein was implied, and also was an express condition of payment of claims 

submitted to the State of California. 

232. Had the State of California known that SUTTER HEALTH was violating the federal 

and state laws cited herein, it would not have paid the claims submitted by health care providers and 

third party payers in connection with SUTTER HEALTH's fraudulent and illegal practices. 

233. SUTTER HEALTH and PHYSICIAN ENTITIES conspired with one another to get 

false and fraudulent claims allowed and paid by the State of California in violation of Cal. Gov't 

Code § 1265l(a)(l). SUTTER HEALTH and PHYSICIAN ENTITIES also conspired to pay 

kickbacks in violation of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code§§ 650 and 650.1, and Cal. Welf. & Ins!. Code§ 

14107.2. 

234. SUTTER HEALTH and PHYSICIAN ENTITIES acted in a concerted fashion to 

defraud the State of California, and acted with others in keeping the facts necessary to investigate the 

fraud and the damages caused by the fraud away from the State of California. Accordingly, the 
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SUTTER HEALTH and PHYSICIAN ENTITIES violated Cal. Gov't Code§ 1265l(a). 

235. As a result of SUTTER HEALTH and PHYSICIAN ENTITIES violations of Cal. 

Gov't Code§ 12651(a)(l), the State ofCalifomia has been severely damaged. 

COUNT SIX 

(Califomia False Claims Act: Using False Statements to Get False Claims Paid) 

(Cal. Gov't Code§ 1265l(a)(2)) 

236. Relator incorporates by reference all paragraphs of this Complaint set out above as if 

fully set forth. 

237. SUTTER HEALTH made, used, and caused to be made or used, false records or 

statements - i.e., the false certifications and representations made and caused to be made by 

SUTTER HEALTH when initially submitting the false claims for payments and the false 

certifications made by SUTTER HEALTH in submitting the cost reports -to get false or fraudulent 

claims paid and approved by the State of Califomia. 

238. SUTTER HEALTH's false certifications and representations were made for the 

purpose of getting false or fraudulent claims paid and payment of the false or fraudulent claims was 

a reasonable and foreseeable consequence of SUTTER HEALTH's statements and actions. 

239. The false certifications and representations made and caused to be made by SUTTER 

HEALTH were material to the State of California's payment of the false claims. 

240. Said false records or statements were made with actual knowledge of their falsity, or 

with reckless disregard or deliberate ignorance of whether or not they were false. 

COUNT SEVEN 

(Califomia False Claims Act: False Record Material to Obligation to Pay) 
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(Cal. Gov't Code§ 1265!(a)(7)) 

241. Relator incorporates by reference all paragraphs of this Complaint set out above as if 

fully set forth. 

242. SUTTER HEALTH made and used or caused to be made or used false records or 

statements material to an obligation to pay or transmit money to the State of California, or 

knowingly concealed, avoided, or decreased an obligation to pay or transmit money to the State of 

California. 

243. Said false records or statements were made with actual knowledge of their falsity, or 

with reckless disregard or deliberate ignorance of whether or not they were false. 

COUNT EIGHT 

(California False Claims Act: Conspiracy to Violate False Claims Act) 

(Cal. Gov't Code§ 1265l(a)(3)) 

244. Relator incorporates by reference all paragraphs of this Complaint set out above as if 

fully set forth. 

245. SUTTER HEALTH and PHYSICIAN ENTITIES conspired with one another to get 

false and fraudulent claims allowed and paid by the State of California in violation of (Cal. Gov't 

Code§ 12651(a)(l) or(2) and to retain overpayments in violation of Cal. Gov'tCode § 12651(a)(7). 

SUTTER HEALTH and PHYSICIAN ENTITIES also conspired to pay physicians excessive 

compensation and remuneration in violation of the Stark Law, AKS laws, Cal Bus. & Prof. Code§§ 

650 and 650.1 and Cal. Welf. & Inst. Code§ 14107.2. 

246. SUTTER HEALTH and PHYSICIAN ENTITIES acted in a concerted fashion to 

defraud the State of California, and acted with others in keeping the facts necessary to investigate the 
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fraud and the damages caused by the fraud away from the State of California. Accordingly, the 

SUTTER HEALTH and PHYSICIAN ENTITIES violated Cal. Gov't Code§ 12651(a)(3). 

24 7. As a result of the actions of SUTTER HEALTH and PHYSICIAN ENTITIES, the 

State of California have been severely damaged. 

WHEREFORE, Relator prays for judgment against SUTTER HEALTH as follows: 

1. On Count One under the False Claims Act, for the amount of the United States' 

damages, trebled as required by law, and such civil penalties of not less than Five Thousand Five 

Hundred Dollars ($5,500.00), and no more than Eleven Thousand Dollars ($11 ,000.00) per claim as 

are authorized by law, together with all such further relief as may be just and proper; and 

2. On Count Two under the False Claims Act, for the amount of the United States' 

damages, trebled as required by law, and such civil penalties of not less than Five Thousand Five 

Hundred Dollars ($5,500.00), and no more than Eleven Thousand Dollars ($1 I ,000.00) per claim as 

are authorized by law, together with all such further relief as may be just and proper; and 

3. On Count Three under the False Claims Act, for the amount of the United States' 

damages, trebled as required by law, and such civil penalties of not less than Five Thousand Five 

Hundred Dollars ($5,500.00), and no more than Eleven Thousand Dollars ($11 ,000.00) Dollars per 

claim as are authorized by law, together with all such further relief as may be just and proper; and 

4.. On Count Four under the False Claims Act, for the amount of the United States' 

damages, trebled as required by law, and such civil penalties of not less than Five Thousand Five 

Hundred Dollars ($5,500.00), and no more than Eleven Thousand Dollars ($11,000.00) per claim as 

are authorized by law, together with all such further relief as may be just and proper; and 

5. On Count Five under the California False Claims Act, for the amount of the State of 
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California's damages, trebled as required by law, and such civil penalties of not less than Five 

Thousand Five Hundred Dollars · ($5,500.00), and no more than Eleven Thousand Dollars 

($11,000.00) per claim as are authotized by law, together with all such further relief as may be just 

and proper; and 

6. On Count Six under the Califomia False Claims Act, for the amount of the State of 

California's damages, trebled as required by law, and such civil penalties of not less than Five 

Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($5,500.00), and no more than Eleven Thousand Dollars 

($11 ,000.00) per claim as are authorized by law, together with all such further relief as may be just 

and proper; and 

7. On Count Seven under the Califomia False Claims Act, for the amount of the State of 

Califomia' s damages, trebled as required by law, and such civil penalties of not less than Five 

Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($5,500.00), and no more than Eleven Thousand Dollars 

($11 ,000.00) per claim as are authorized by law, together with all such further relief as may be just 

and proper; and 

8. On Count Eight under the Califomia False Claims Act, for the amount of the State of 

California's damages, trebled as required by law, and such civil penalties of not less than Five 

Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($5,500.00), and no more than Eleven Thousand Dollars 

($11,000.00) per claim as are authorized by law, together with all such further relief as may be just 

and proper; and 

9. That Relator be awarded the maximum Relator share amount permissible according to 

31 U.S.C. § 3730(c) and Cal. Gov't Code§ 12652; and 

10. That judgment be granted for the United States of America, State of California and 
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Relator and against Defendants for any costs, including, but not limited to, court costs, expert fees, 

and all attorneys' fees incurred by Relator in the prosecution of this case, including, but not limited 

to, all attorney fees and costs available pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3730( d) and Cal. Gov't Code § 

12652; and 

11. That the United States, State of California and Relator be granted such other and 

further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Relator demands a jury trial in this case. 

Respectfully submitted this lOth day of September, 2014. 
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